### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-00981	
SCOTT and MONA HARRISON	APPELLANTS
VS.	
MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF BATESVILLE, MISSISSIPPI	APPELLEES
and	
MEMPHIS STONE AND GRAVEL COMPANY	INTERVENOR
ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE	

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

## ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PAUL B. WATKINS, JR. (MB NO POPE S. MALLETTE (MB N MAYO MALLETTE PLLC 5 University Office Park 2094 Old Taylor Road, Suite 200 Post Office Box 1456 Oxford, Mississippi 38655

Tel: (662) 236-0055 Fax: (662) 236-0035

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) Whether a zoning authority's approval of a variance to allow strip mining in an area zoned for residential and light commercial use constitutes impermissible "spot zoning."
- (2) Whether a zoning authority may grant a variance in the absence of any evidence of substantial hardship to the applicant.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellants submit that the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record in this case. The record in this matter is brief, and Appellants do not believe that oral argument would significantly aid the Court in its decisional process. Appellant respectfully request that the Court not schedule oral argument in this case. *See* MISS. R. APP. P. 34(a).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-51-75, Appellants Scott and Mona Harrison ("the Harrisons") appealed a decision of the governing authorities of the City of Batesville, Mississippi ("the City") to grant a variance allowing the Memphis Stone and Gravel Company ("Memphis Stone") to operate a gravel pit in an area zoned for residential and community business use.

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The Harrisons own and reside upon certain residential property within the City in the vicinity of a tract of land owned by Deborah and Timothy Haire and another tract owned by James Harvey and Georgia, Billy, and Jane Seale. R. 8, 14, 37. These tracts of land, which are zoned R-1 (single family residential) and C-2 (community business), have been leased by Memphis Stone for use as a sand and gravel mine. R. 14, 15, 19-20. These tracts are immediately north of a mining operation currently run by Memphis Stone, referred to as the "Brasell Mine." R. 15-16, 19-20. The Brasell Mine lies entirely outside the City's municipal boundaries. R. 17.

Under the City's Zoning Ordinance, each zoning district has certain "permitted" uses for which no special approval is required and "conditional" uses which must be approved by the Board of Aldermen. Batesville Zoning Ordinance, §§ 201, 401. Mining operations are allowed only in districts zoned for agricultural ("Agr.") or industrial ("I-1" and "I-2") use. § 401(14.300). Such activities are not permitted under any circumstances in R-1 and C-2 districts.

On behalf of the landowners, Memphis Stone applied to the City for a variance to allow it to operate a sand and gravel mining operation on the property. On its Variance Application, in the section marked "Reason for Request", Memphis Stone wrote: "Owners desire to mine sand and gravel and conveyor material to existing wash plant for processing." R. 13-14. In a subsequent

letter to the City's Code Enforcement Administrator, Memphis Stone stated that the variance was sought "in order to mine sand and gravel from [the] leased property and transport the material to our existing wash plant operation." R. 15. In an "Operations Narrative" submitted with its variance application, Memphis Stone stated that

The growth in Tate County demands a good source of local aggregate. Memphis Stone & Gravel Company believes this deposit will be an asset to the local economy and will likely be lost to future residential development if not managed as a resource for construction material.

R. 19-20.

After the City's Planning Commission recommended approval of the variance, R. 31-32, the City's Board of Aldermen granted the variance at its meeting on July 1, 2008. R. 37. The sole finding in support of approval for a mine to be placed on property zoned "single family residential" and "community business" was that the variance was "necessary in order to avoid practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship on the use and development of said property." *Id*.

At its July 15, 2008 meeting, a motion to rescind the variance was defeated, and the Mayor and Board ultimately voted to approve an amended variance that placed certain conditions upon Memphis Stone. R. 38-46. Appellants timely appealed the July 1 decision and later filed an Amended Notice of Appeal to bring the events of the July 15 within the record on appeal. R. 4-7.

After a hearing held on March 5, 2009, the Circuit Court entered an order affirming the decision of the Mayor and Board of Aldermen. R. 171-75. After the parties all filed post-judgment motions, the Circuit Court amended its original order to correct a factual discrepancy. R. 201-05. The judgment of the Circuit Court remained the same.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because it effectively changes the zoning of the affected area, authorizes a use that is not in harmony with the City's Zoning Ordinance, and favors Memphis Stone to the exclusion of other landowners and interested parties, the variance granted to Memphis Stone by the City constitutes impermissible spot zoning.

The City's decision to grant the variance was arbitrary and unsupported by substantial evidence. Because the record contains no evidence that Memphis Stone would suffer any unusual difficulty or hardship if the variance application was denied, the City's decision must be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review

Municipal zoning decisions must be set aside when they are arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, or unsupported by substantial evidence. *Drews v. City of Hattiesburg*, 904 So. 2d 138, 140 (Miss. 2005). This Court has defined substantial evidence as "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion or to put it simply, more than a mere scintilla of evidence." *Hooks v. George County*, 748 So. 2d 678, 680 (Miss. 1999) (internal citations omitted). In reviewing the City's decision to grant the variance, the Court may only consider the facts contained within the Harrison's Amended Bill of Exceptions. *See Falco Lime v. Mayor & Aldermen of Vicksburg*, 836 So. 2d 711, 716 (Miss. 2003).

The Court does not sit as a "superzoning" authority, and its review does not extend to an evaluation of the prudence of the City's judgment. *Caver v. Jackson County Bd. of Supervisors*, 947 So. 2d 351, 353 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); *see also Falco Lime*, 836 at 722 ("It is not the function of the circuit court on appeal from an administrative agency to determine whether the action of the

agency is right or wrong, correct or incorrect, wise or unwise, advisable or best fitted to the situation involved.") (quoting County Bd. of Educ. of Alcorn County v. Parents & Custodians of Students at Rienzi Sch. Attendance Ctr., 168 So. 2d 814, 819 (Miss. 1964)). In other words, the City's "[p]ower to make the order, and not the mere expediency or wisdom of having made it, is the question." Alcorn County, 168 So. 2d at 819.

## II. The City's Decision Constitutes Impermissible Spot Zoning

"Spot zoning" is an example of an arbitrary and capricious zoning decision. *Modak-Truran* v. *Johnson*, No. 2008-CA-00104, 2009 WL 2462418, at \*4 (Miss. Aug. 13, 2009). The term is often used to describe a change to a zoning scheme that reclassifies a small area for a use that is prohibited by an applicable zoning ordinance and out of harmony with such ordinance or an applicable comprehensive land use plan. *See id.*; *Fondren N. Renaissance v. Mayor of Jackson*, 749 So. 2d 974, 979 (Miss. 1999); *McWaters v. Biloxi*, 591 So.2d 824, 828 (Miss.1991).

The "one constant" in cases where zoning actions have been invalidated as impermissible spot zoning "is that they were designed 'to favor' someone." *McWaters*, 591 So. 2d at 828. A zoning action "which favors a particular landowner over adjacent landowners will be viewed as an arbitrary and discriminatory use of zoning authority" unless the necessary procedural and evidentiary conditions for rezoning are met. *Modak-Truran*, 2009 WL 2462418, at \*4 (quoting 2 E.C. Yokley, ZONING LAW AND PRACTICE § 13-4 (4th ed. 2000)). This Court has held that a municipality's approval of a variance results in spot zoning when it allows a use of the subject property which is "not in harmony with the comprehensive or well-considered land use plan of a municipality." *Drews* v. *City of Hattiesburg*, 904 So. 2d 138, 722 n.2 (Miss. 2005) (*citing McWaters*, 591 So.2d at 828). When "the use contemplated by the variance request is completely at odds with the zoning ordinance," it "is violative of basic zoning law." *Id*.

In *Drews*, the City of Hattiesburg granted a series of variances to allow the applicant to build a 60,000-square-foot building in a business district that was limited to buildings of 10,000 square feet. *Drews*, 904 So. 2d at 141-42. The Court held that the variances at issue were "so dramatic that they constitute a rezoning to B-3, two levels beyond the B-1 (professional business district) lots in question" and that "[t]he differences between B-1 and B-3 are so extreme that if the variances are granted, spot zoning would occur." *Id.* at 141. Finding that "[v]ariances which are incompatible with the terms of an ordinance should not be granted," the Court rendered judgment against the City because "the proposed variances are not minor departures from the scope and intent of the B-1 classification." *Id.* at 141-42.

The *Drews* Court, citing a leading authority on Mississippi zoning law, also pointed out that it has long been the law in this State that variances should not be utilized to change the permissible *use* of a parcel: "[S]erious questions arise when a variance is granted to permit a use otherwise prohibited by the ordinance; e.g., a service station or quick-stop grocery in a residential district. The most obvious danger is that the variance will be utilized to by-pass procedural safeguards required for valid amendment." Robert C. Khayat & David C. Reynolds, *Zoning Law in Mississippi*, 45 Miss. L. J. 365, 383 (1974) (footnotes omitted) (quoted in *Drews*, 904 So. 2d at 141).

Even more recently, this Court found that a zoning ordinance change enacted by the City of Jackson constituted impermissible spot zoning because it favored one property owner to the exclusion of all others in the district. *Modak-Truran v. Johnson*, 2009 WL 2462418, at \*4. In that case, the City of Jackson amended its zoning ordinance to create a new zoning definition for a "Bed and Breakfast Class B with Restaurant" and permitted existing Class B bed and breakfast inns to operate on-premises full-service restaurants as a matter of right and without the need to apply for a

use permit. *Id.* at \*2. The only existing Class B bed and breakfast inn in the City was the Fairview Inn, a bed and breakfast inn operating in an area zoned for one- and two-family dwellings. *Id.* at \*5. The ordinance effectively allowed the Fairvew Inn (and only the Fairview Inn) to operate as a full-service restaurant without the need for a use permit. *Id.* In overturning the City's decision, the Court found that "the amendments significantly altered and expanded the activities previously allowed on R-2 properties, and effectively rezoned the Fairview Inn from residential to commercial property." *Id.* 

The City's approval of the Memphis Stone variance was a textbook case of spot zoning. First, there can be no dispute that the variance was designed to favor Memphis Stone. It was granted at Memphis Stone's request, for the specific purpose Memphis Stone wanted, with respect to the specific area in which Memphis Stone holds a lease interest, and to the sole benefit of Memphis Stone.

Second, like the zoning actions in *Drews* and *Modak-Truran*, the variance constitutes an effective rezoning from R-1 and C-2 to Agr., I-1, or I-2. Under the City's Zoning Ordinance, mining operations are not allowed in R-1 or C-2 districts under any circumstances. This newly-allowed land use within areas set aside for residential and light commercial activity constitutes exactly "the type of dramatic physical change" this Court has consistently identified as spot zoning. *Modak-Truran* v. *Johnson*, 2009 WL 2462418, at \*8 (Carlson, P.J., dissenting). In order to rezone property, an applicant must show by clear and convincing evidence that "(1) there was a mistake in the original zoning, or (2) that the character of the neighborhood has changed to such an extent as to justify reclassification, and there was a public need for rezoning." *City of Madison v. Shanks*, 793 So. 2d 576, 578 (Miss. 2000). The record contains no evidence to address any of these factors, much less

clear and convincing evidence, and the City made no attempt to validly amend its comprehensive land use plan or its zoning map.

Furthermore, the variance could not be more inharmonious or incompatible with the restrictions and intent of the City's Zoning Ordinance. In addition to specifically disallowing mining operations in the areas at issue, the Ordinance states that R-1 districts are "designed and intended to secure for the persons who reside there a comfortable, healthy, safe, and pleasant environment in which to live, sheltered from incompatible, and disruptive activities that properly belong in nonresidential districts." Batesville Zoning Ordinance, § 301(a). The Ordinance also states that the C-2 district "is designed to accommodate commercial development on a scale that is less intensive than that permitted in a C-1 district." Batesville Zoning Ordinance, § 302(c). Mining operations are not even permitted in the more intensive C-1 districts.

The City's approval of the Memphis Stone variance constitutes impermissible spot zoning. The variance effectively rezoned the property at issue without the requisite findings or procedural safeguards. This action was for the exclusive benefit of Memphis Stone, and it was completely inconsistent with the City's own ordinances and land use plan. The Court should reverse the judgment of the Circuit Court and render judgment in favor of the Harrisons.

### III. The Record Contains No Evidence to Support the City's Decision

Whether or not the City's decision constitutes "spot zoning," it is still arbitrary and unsupported by substantial evidence. The City's Zoning Ordinance provides that a variance from its literal terms may only be granted "where there are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships in the way of carrying out the strict letter of this ordinance, so that the spirit of this ordinance shall be observed, public welfare and safety secured and substantial justice done." Batesville Zoning Ordinance, § 1204(5). The record contains no evidence to support any finding of hardship.

Variances may not be granted merely because the desired use of the property will be more convenient or profitable than the use for which the property is zoned or because the applicant will suffer some financial disadvantage without the variance. Westminster Presbyterian Church v. Jackson, 176 So. 2d 267, 272 (Miss. 1965); Caver, 947 So. 2d at 354. They are only appropriate when the applicant faces "some unusual hardship from the literal enforcement of the regulation different from, and greater than, that suffered by other property owners in the district" and, even then, only if "the proposed use of the property is within the spirit of the zoning regulations." Westminster, 176 So. 2d at 272 (quoting 62 C.J.S. Municipal Corporations § 227). The purpose of the variance remedy has traditionally been to allow a landowner to seek relief from "ordinances which rendered use of the property impossible or impractical." Khayat and Reynolds, Zoning Law in Mississippi, 45 Miss. L.J. at 383 (quoted in Drews, 904 So. 2d at 141).

There is no evidence in the record to support the City's finding of a substantial hardship to Memphis Stone. The only proffered justifications in support the variance application are that (1) the owners "desire" to mine sand and gravel within districts in which such activities are specifically prohibited, R. 13-14, (2) "the growth in Tate County [not *Panola* County] demands a good source of local aggregate," and (3) the gravel Memphis Stone seeks to mine is an "asset to the local economy" that "will likely be lost to future residential development" if it is not allowed to mine it. R. 19-20. Nothing in the record indicates that the Haire-Seale property has somehow been rendered unsuitable for the residential or light commercial use for which it is zoned. Memphis Stone's "facts" are proof of any type of hardship; they merely establish that Memphis Stone would like to operate a strip mine in a residential area because it will be profitable for it to do so.

Memphis Stone will not suffer any kind of unusual hardship or difficulty greater than every other resident within the City's R-1 and C-2 districts. In fact, just the opposite is true: no other landowner within the City's R-1 and C-2 districts may operate a strip mining facility. *See* 3 RATHKOPF'S THE LAW OF ZONING AND PLANNING § 58:5 (4th ed.):

Every zoning ordinance imposes some degree of hardship on all property to which it applies, since the restrictions of the ordinance limit the uses to which the property may be put. This degree of hardship is implicit in zoning; the restrictions on each parcel of property are compensated for by similar restrictions on neighboring property. ... Such hardship, consistent with the hardship imposed on all other pieces of property in the district, is not a ground for a variance.

Memphis Stone's lease will likely be more valuable if the variance is upheld. Likewise, the expansion of Memphis Stone's Panola County mining operations into the Haire-Seale property will be more convenient and profitable for Memphis Stone. However, variances may not be granted on the basis of convenience or potential profitability. *Westminster*, 176 So. 2d at 272; *Caver*, 947 So. 2d at 354. There is no evidence in the record to support a finding that future use of the Haire-Seale property will be rendered impossible or impractical without the variance, and the City's decision to grant Memphis Stone's variance application because Memphis Stone "desired" to expand its mining operations was arbitrary and capricious.

#### CONCLUSION

The City's approval of Memphis Stone's variance application constitutes impermissible spot zoning. The sole purpose of the variance was to permit a use otherwise prohibited by the Ordinance, that is, a mining operation in districts zoned for residential and community business use. The City's decision expressly conflicts with its own comprehensive land use plan and is in no way faithful to the "spirit" of its Zoning Ordinance. Furthermore, there is no evidence in the record to support the

City's findings. For these reasons, the Court should reverse the decision of Appellee, the City of Batesville, Mississippi, and render judgment in favor of Appellants Scott and Mona Harrison.

THIS, the 18th day of November, 2009.