# CASE NO. 2009-CA-00981 CASE NO. 2009-CA-00981 SCOTT and MONA HARRISON APPELLANTS VS. MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF CITY OF BATESVILLE, MISSISSIPPI APPELLEES and MEMPHIS STONE AND GRAVEL COMPANY INTERVENOR

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF PANOLA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

### ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

BENJAMIN E. GRIFFITH, MB NO LAUREN WEBB CARR, MB NO GRIFFITH & GRIFFITH, ATTORNEYS Post Office Drawer 1680 Cleveland, MS 38732 Telephone: 662-843-6100 Facsimile: 662-843-8153 Attorney for Appellees, Mayor and Board of Aldermen of City of Batesville

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-00981

I.	Statement of the Issues
II.	Statement of the Case
III.	Statement of Relevant Facts
IV.	Summary of the Argument
V.	Argument
	1. Standard of Review4
	2. The City's Decision Does Not Constitute Spot Zoning
	3. The Record Contains Substantial Evidence to Support the City's Decision, which was
	"Fairly Debatable"
VI.	Conclusion
Cortif	ionto of Sorrigo

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### **CASES**

Alcorn County Bd. of Education v. Parents & Custodians of Students at Rienzi Sch. Attendance Ctr., 168 So. 2d 814 (Miss. 1964)
Barnes v. DeSoto County Bd. of Supervisors, 553 So. 2d 508 (Miss. 1989) 5, 7, 11
Beasley v. Neely, 911 So. 2d 603 (Miss. App. 2005)
Board of Aldermen v. Conerly, 509 So. 2d 877 (Miss. 1987)
Board of Aldermen of Town of Bay Springs v. Jenkins, 423 So. 2d 1323 (Miss. 1982)
Briarwood, Inc. v. City of Clarksdale, 766 So. 2d 73 (Miss. 2000)
Carpenter v. City of Petal, 699 So. 2d 928 (Miss. 1997)
Caver v. Jackson County Bd. of Supervisors, 947 So.2d 351 (Miss. App. 2007) 5, 9
Childs v. Hancock County Bd. of Supervisors, 1 So. 3d 855 (Miss. 2009)
Cockrell v. Panola County, 950 So. 2d 1086 (Miss. App. 2007)
Drews v. City of Hattiesburg, 904 So. 2d 142 (Miss. 2005)
Edwards v. Harrison County Bd. of Supervisors, 22 So. 3d 268 (Miss. 2009)
Faircloth v. Lyles, 592 So. 2d 941 (Miss. 1991)
Falco Lime v. Mayor & Aldermen of Vicksburg, 836 So. 2d 711 (Miss. 2003)
Hooks v. George County, 748 So. 2d 678 (Miss. 1999)
Kuluz v. City of D'Iberville, 890 So. 2d 938 (Miss. App. 2004)
Lange v. City of Batesville, 832 So. 2d 1236, 1237 (Miss. App. 2002)
McKibben v. City of Jackson, 193 So. 2d 741 (Miss. 1967)
Mississippi Real Estate Comm'n v. Anding, 732 So. 2d 192 (Miss. 1999))
Nichols v. Madison County Bd. of Supervisors, 953 So. 2d 1128 (Miss. App. 2006)

Perez v. Garden Isle Community Association, 882 So. 2d 217 (Miss. 2004)
Sanderson v. City of Hattiesburg, 249 Miss. 656, 163 So. 2d 739 (Miss. 1964)
Westminster Presbyterian Church v. City of Jackson, 176 So. 2d 267 (Miss. 1965) 10, 11
Wilkinson County Board of Supervisors v. Quality Farms, Inc., 767 So. 2d 1007 (Miss. 2000)
STATUTES AND RULES
MISS CODE ANN. § 11-51-75
Batesville Zoning Ordinance § 1204(5)
OTHER
1 E.C. Yokley, ZONING LAW AND PRACTICE §§ 8-1 to 8-3 (3 <sup>rd</sup> ed. 1965)
Patrick J. Rohan, ZONING AND LAND USE CONTROLS, § 38A.01[1](2006)6

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-00981

SCOTT and MONA HARRISON

**APPELLANTS** 

VS.

MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF CITY OF BATESVILLE, MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEES** 

and

MEMPHIS STONE AND GRAVEL COMPANY

INTERVENOR

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

### I. Statement of the Issues

- (1) Whether the variance granted to Memphis Stone and Gravel to expand a portion of its mining operation into city limits constituted "sport zoning," or a temporary exception to the zoning restrictions for which there was a public need.
- (2) Whether the variance granted by the City to Memphis Stone and Gravel Company was "fairly debatable" and supported by substantial evidence.

### II. Statement of the Case

On July 1, 2008, the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of Batesville, Mississippi, ("City") granted a variance to Memphis Stone and Gravel ("MS&G") to permit its current sand and gravel operations to be extended into City-zoned property. The City based its decision on the unanimous approval of the Batesville City Planning Commission's ("Planning Commission") and

requisite public hearing. The variance allowed what was already a functioning sand and gravel operation on adjoining land to be temporarily expanded from onto City land zoned R-1 (single-family residential) and C-2 (commercial district). Following the Planning Commission's approval, the City again heard from proponents and opponents and amended the variance to include a number of protective conditions, to which MS&G agreed, including a two-and-one-half (2 ½) year time frame for the variance. Appellants, Scott and Mona Harrison ("Harrisons"), aggrieved by this decision, appealed. Pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-51-75 (1972), the Harrisons filed a *Bill of Exceptions* and thereafter, an *Amended Bill of Exceptions*. From the affirmance of the Circuit Court, the subject appeal ensued.

### III. Statement of Relevant Facts

In May 2003, Panola County granted MS&G a special exception to operate a wash plant and mining operation known as the "Brassell Mine" (Amended Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "A"). In order to temporarily expand this operation and make use of potential local aggregate for area growth and construction, MS&G leased an additional 65 acres known as the "Seale-Haire Lease." Id. This proposed site was directly north of the existing Brassell Mine and included 18 acres that fell within Batesville City limits. Id.

On April 7, 2008, MS&G applied for a variance request to mine sand and gravel on the 18 acres falling within the City limits. *Id.* On May 19, 2008, the Planning Commission met to consider the request (*Amended Bill of Exceptions*, Exhibit "B"). MS&G representative Alan Parks gave a presentation on the proposed operation to the Planning Commission, after which the Planning Commission unanimously approved the variance request. *Id.* 

On May 19, 2008, the Planning Commission assembled to consider the request (Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "B"). Following MS&G representative Alan Parks' presentation, the Planning

Commission unanimously approved the variance request. *Id.* Relying on the Planning Commission's approval, the City unanimously adopted an Order to set the matter for public hearing on June 17, 2008, at 3:00 p.m. (*Amended Bill of Exceptions*, Exhibit "C"). Notice of the hearing was published in <u>The Panolian</u>, a Batesville paper of general circulation. *Id.* The hearing was held on said date, as reflected in the City's official minutes; the City provided proper notice and publication as required by law. (*Amended Bill of Exceptions*, Exhibit "D"). Proponents, Alan Parks and Bill Kelly of MS&G, were present and spoke in favor of the request, and opponents, the Harrisons and Bill Joiner, spoke against this request. The City then voted to take the matter under advisement until its regular meeting on July 1, 2008. *Id.* 

At its regular meeting on July 1, 2008, the City again heard from Alan Parks, who spoke for and answered questions on behalf of MS&G. (*Amended Bill of Exceptions*, Exhibit "E"). Scott Harrison, one of the Appellants herein, was also present. Mr. Harrison had an opportunity to be heard and was heard. The City voted 3-2 in favor of granting the request. *Id*.

### IV. Summary of the Argument

The City's zoning decision was "fairly debatable." Any and all interested parties had a full and fair opportunity to present their respective sides of the issue. No procedural issues are contemplated in this appeal, rather, the Appellants boldly ask this Court to second-guess and to upset the City's well-reasoned decision. Controlling authority provides a sound and substantiated basis for leaving the City's decision intact.

Throughout this process, the City followed all applicable statutes and procedural safeguards to ensure a well-reasoned, thoughtful and fair outcome. The record shows that the City based its decision on substantial evidence and that its decision was fairly debatable. Interested parties had ample opportunity to make their arguments and submit evidence to the City regarding the issuance

of the variance. The City took deliberate action to ensure that competing opinions were fairly considered. The City even went so far as to incorporate conditions on the granted variance, thereby establishing safeguards to protect the City's interest. Mississippi law distinguishes matters of zoning and re-zoning as legislative functions which the courts of our State do not have authority to disturb where the decision is fairly debatable. *Briarwood, Inc. v. City of Clarksdale*, 766 So. 2d 73, 80 (Miss. 2000). It is clear that the City based its decision on substantial evidence. Further, the decision, which was fairly debatable, was indeed fairly debated.

### V. Argument

### 1. Standard of Review

The standard of review employed by both this court and the circuit court is well established. The circuit court acts as an appellate court in reviewing zoning cases and not as trier of fact. *Board of Alderman v. Conerly*, 509 So. 2d 877, 885 (Miss. 1987). "The circuit court has no authority to intervene unless the Commission's decision is arbitrary and capricious, a standard equated with the substantial evidence rule limiting the scope of review of trial court findings of evidentiary and ultimate fact." *Childs v. Hancock County Bd. of Supervisors*, 1 So. 3d 855, 861 (Miss. 2009) (quoting *Mississippi Real Estate Comm'n v. Anding*, 732 So. 2d 192, 196 (Miss. 1999)).

If the Board's decision is founded upon substantial evidence, then it is binding upon an appellate court. *Id.* (quoting *Perez v. Garden Isle Cmty. Ass'n*, 822 So. 2d 217, 220 (Miss. 2004). The appellate court may not set aside the order of a municipality's governing body if its validity is "fairly debatable," and such order may not be set aside by a reviewing court unless it is clearly shown to be arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or is illegal or without substantial evidential basis. *Sanderson v. City of Hattiesburg*, 249 Miss. 656, 163 So. 2d 739 (Miss. 1964). "Like the circuit

Court, this Court's review ... is limited to the record created by the bill of exceptions." *Lange v. City of Batesville*, 832 So. 2d 1236, 1237 (Miss. App. 2002), citing *Ladner v. Harrison County Bd. of Supervisors*, 793 So. 2d 637, 639 (Miss. 2001).

The Court does not act as a "superzoning authority," and its review does not extend to an evaluation of the prudence or wisdom of the City's judgment. Caver v. Jackson County Bd. of Supervisors, 947 So. 2d 351, 353 (Miss. App. 2007); see also Falco Lime, 836 at 722 ("It is not the function of the Circuit Court on appeal from an administrative agency to determine whether the action of the agency is right or wrong, correct or incorrect, wise or unwise, advisable or best fitted to the situation involved.")(quoting County Bd. of Educ. of Alcorn County v. Parents & Custodians of Students at Rienzi Sch. Attendance Ctr., 168 So. 2d 814, 819 (Miss. 1964)).

If the Board's decision granting a variance is founded upon substantial evidence, then it is binding upon an appellate court. *Barnes v. Bd. of Supervisors*, 553 So. 2d 508, 511 (Miss. 1989); see also *Wilkinson County Bd. of Supervisors v. Quality Farms, Inc.*, 767 So. 2d 1007, 1010 (Miss. 2000). According to the Mississippi Supreme Court, substantial evidence is defined as "relevant evidence that reasonable minds might accept as satisfactory to support a conclusion, or stated otherwise, that which constitutes "more than a mere scintilla of evidence." *Beasley v. Neely*, 911 So. 2d 603, 607 (Miss. App. 2005)(quoting *Hooks v. George County*, 748 So. 2d 678, 680 (Miss. 1999)). As this Court has articulated, as an appellate court, its task "is to determine whether the circuit court erred in its judicial review of whether the Board's decision to rezone was arbitrary and unsupported by substantial evidence." *Edwards v. Harrison County Bd. of Supervisors*, 22 So. 3d 268, 279 (Miss. 2009)(quoting *Childs*, 1 So.3d at 860). The Court has described its responsibility as follows: "to verify the existence of substantial evidence, not reweigh the evidence." *Id.* at 861. Given the sufficiency of the record as reflected in the *Amended Bill of Exceptions*, as noted above,

Appellees do not believe that oral argument would facilitate appellate review, and therefore refrains from requesting the same.

### 2. The City's Decision Does Not Constitute Spot Zoning.

Mississippi courts have consistently defined "spot zoning" as the arbitrary and unreasonable reclassification of a small area within the zoning district to a use which is inconsistent with the surrounding district. Where a public need exists, zoning may be distinguished from spot zoning and held to be valid. Cockrell v. Panola County, 950 So. 2d 1086, 1097 (Miss. App. 2007). The term "spot zoning" describes a zoning amendment which is not in harmony with the comprehensive or well-considered land use plan of a municipality. Kuluz v. City of D'Iberville, 890 So. 2d 938, 944 (Miss. App. 2004). However, "the mere fact that the use for which a piece of property is rezoned will be inconsistent with the previous zoning classification, or even with some of the other uses of nearby property, does not necessarily make a re-zoning decision spot zoning." Id. (emphasis added).

There is a precise distinction between a validly enacted amendatory zoning ordinance and a "spot zoning" ordinance. Not all amendments which change or alter the character of a use district fall within the category of "spot zoning" as we generally understand the term. "[S]pot zoning involves amendments to existing zoning ordinances singling out a small area for a use classification which is different - whether more or less restrictive- from that of the surrounding area." *Cockrell* at 1096 (quoting Rohan ZONING AND LAND USE CONTROLS, § 38A.01[1](2006). "In the narrow sense of the term, spot zoning is the arbitrary and unreasonable reclassification of a small area within a zoning district to a use which is inconsistent with the surrounding district, where the rezoning does not conform to a comprehensive plan, serves no public purpose and is solely for private gain." *Id.* Moreover, "the mere fact that an area is small and is zoned at the request of a single owner and is

of greater benefit to him than to others does not make out a case of spot zoning if there is a public need for it or a compelling reason for it." *Cockrell* at 1097.

This principle has been articulated on many occasions by the Mississippi Supreme Court in cases involving charges of spot zoning, a term that:

is ordinarily used where a zoning ordinance is amended reclassifying one or more tracts or lots for a use prohibited by the original zoning ordinance and out of harmony therewith. Whether such an amendment will be held void depends upon the circumstances of each case. The one constant in the cases, as stated by the textwriter, where zoning ordinances have been invalidated due to "spot zoning" is that they were designed "to favor" someone. See 1 Yokley, ZONING LAW AND PRACTICE §§ 8-1 to 8-3 (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 1965).

McKibben v. City of Jackson, 193 So. 2d 741, 744 (Miss. 1967).

In *McKibbe*n, the court relied on this definition of spot zoning, originally provided by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Cockrell v. Panola County*, 950 So. 2d 1986, and further noted that several issues were involved in determining if spot zoning has occurred, "such as the size and character of the land, and the private versus public purpose of re-zoning." *Id*.

The City Planning Commission in the instant case understood that not all lands are suitable for a single use and that unforeseen changes in City plans may occur, justifying the issuance of variances in the City's Zoning Ordinance § 1204(5), which provides in part:

Upon recommendation of the planning commission, to vary or modify the application of any of the regulations or provisions of the ordinance where there are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships in the way of carrying out the strict letter of this ordinance, so that the spirit of this ordinance shall be observed, public welfare and safety secured and substantial justice done. (Appellant's Brief, Appendix "A").

Under Mississippi law, MS&G in submitting its application for a variance was only required to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the requirements or factors justifying its issuance have been satisfied. *Drews v. City of Hattiesburg*, 904 So. 2d at 142 (citing *Barnes v. Board of Supervisors*, 553 So. 2d 508, 510, 511 (Miss. 1989)); *Nichols v. Madison County Board of* 

Supervisors, 953 So. 2d 1128 (Miss. App. 2006).

The City validly exercised its authority in granting the requested variance to MS&G. The property at issue is 18 acres of a 65-acre tract of land that is directly North of the existing Brassell mine. (Amended Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "A"). MS&G states, in the variance request Operations Narrative provided to the Planning Committee that there is a public need for a good source of local aggregate and that the project would be a good asset for the local economy that will likely be lost to future residential development if not managed as a resource for construction material. (Amended Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "A". Appellants cite the Narrative in their appeal. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 2-3). Based on the nature of the property, the location of the current identical mining operation directly to the South, the location of the operation on the border of the City limit line, the economic evidence provided by MS&G, and the temporary nature of the variance, the City granted MS&G's request.

Moreover, the City exhausted procedural safeguards to ensure the need for and appropriateness of the variance. On April 7, 2008, MS&G submitted a letter to Pam Comer, the Administrator of the City's Code Enforcement, detailing the property, providing maps of the proposal, pictures from previous mining sites and photos of reclaimed land. (Amended Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "A"). The Operations Narrative provided on May 1, 2008, gave a detailed explanation of the proposed project. (Amended Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "A"). On May 19, 2008, the Planning Commission considered the variance. Following MS&G's presentation, the Planning Commission voted unanimously to approve the variance request (Amended Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "B"). After this the City conducted a public hearing on June 17, 2008, where both proponents and opponents were heard regarding the variance. (Amended Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "D"). The July 1, 2008, Board meeting followed, at which time both sides were heard and MS&G answered questions posed by the Board. (Amended Bill of Exceptions, Exhibit "E"). Following open

discussion in which those present, including Appellants and their counsel, had an opportunity to be heard, the City voted 3-2 to grant the variance. *Id*.

Finally, on July 15, 2008, in response to a motion to rescind it, the Board revisited the variance. At this time the Board entertained further dialogue and debate with Harrisons, their attorney Paul Watkins, MS&G President Hal Williford, and attorney for MS&G Patrick Lancaster. After multiple hearings and detailed proposals, the City voted to amend the variance to include certain conditions previously detailed. Included among these conditions was a time limit on the variance of two-and-one-half years. *Id*.

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